UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA
Newport News Division

HILDA L. SOLIS, SECRETARY OF LABOR,	)		
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF LABOR,	)
 	)
Plaintiff,			)
 	)
v.						)	Civil Action 
)								)	No. 4:09CV37
MICHAEL D. VICK,	) 
MV7, LLC, 	)
MARY R. WONG,	)
DAVID A. TALBOT, and	)
MV7 DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN,		) 
								)
Defendants.		 	)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

	COMPLAINT

Hilda L. Solis, Secretary of Labor, United States Department of Labor (“Secretary”), hereby alleges:
	Jurisdiction and Venue
1.	This cause of action arises under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 ("ERISA" or “the Act”), 29 U.S.C. § 1001, et seq., and is brought by the Secretary under Sections 502(a)(2) and (5) of ERISA, 29 U.S.C. §§ 1132(a)(2) and (5), to enjoin acts and practices which violate the provisions of Title I of ERISA, to obtain appropriate relief for breaches of fiduciary duty under ERISA Section 409, 29 U.S.C. § 1109, and to obtain such further relief as may be appropriate to redress violations and enforce the provisions of  Title I of ERISA.
2.	This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 502(e)(1) of ERISA, 29 U.S.C. § 1132(e)(1). 	
3.	The MV7 Defined Benefit Pension Plan (“Pension Plan” or “the Plan”) is an employee benefit plan within the meaning of Section 3(3) of ERISA, 29 U.S.C. § 1002(3), and is therefore subject to the coverage of the Act pursuant to Section 4(a) of ERISA, 29 U.S.C. § 1003(a).  
4. Defendant Michael D. Vick (“Vick”), currently imprisoned in Leavenworth, Kansas, maintains his residence in Hampton, Virginia.  Defendant Vick has filed a related bankruptcy proceeding that is pending in the Eastern District of Virginia (Case No. 08-50775).  This action is excepted from the automatic stay by operation of Section 362(b)(4) of the  Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. § 362(b)(4).        
5. Venue with respect to this action lies in the Eastern District of Virginia, pursuant to Section 502(e)(2) of ERISA, 29 U.S.C. § 1132(e)(2), because Defendant Vick resides in the District.   
6. Venue with respect to this action also lies in the Eastern District of Virginia, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1334, because this action relates to a pending bankruptcy proceeding in the District.  
	The Parties
7. The Secretary, pursuant to Sections 502(a)(2) and (5) of the Act, 29 U.S.C. §§1132(a)(2) and (5), has the authority to enforce the provisions of Title I of ERISA by, among other means, the filing and prosecution of claims against fiduciaries and others who commit violations of ERISA.	
8. At all relevant times, Michael D. Vick was the Trustee of the Plan and one hundred percent owner of MV7, LLC (“MV7”).  At all relevant times, he exercised discretionary authority or control respecting the management of the Plan, exercised authority or control respecting the management or disposition of the Plan’s assets, and exercised authority or discretionary responsibility in the administration of the Plan.  He was therefore a fiduciary of the Plan under ERISA § 3(21)(A), 29 U.S.C. § 1002(21)(A), and a party in interest as that term is defined in ERISA Sections 3(14)(A) and (H), 29 U.S.C. §§ 1002(14)(A) and (H). 
9. MV7, LLC, also known as MV7 Marketing, LLC, was the sponsor of the Plan and the Plan Administrator of the Plan.  At all relevant times, MV7 exercised discretionary authority or discretionary control respecting management of the Plan, exercised authority or control respecting management or disposition of the Plan’s assets, and exercised  discretionary authority or discretionary responsibility in the administration of the Plan.  MV7 was therefore a fiduciary of the Plan within the meaning of ERISA Section 3(21), 29 U.S.C. § 1002(21), and a party in interest as that term is defined in ERISA Sections 3(14)(A) and (C), 29 U.S.C. §§ 1002(14)(A) and (C).
10. Mary R. Wong (“Wong”) was an individual who served as a financial advisor to Defendant Vick.  On or about October 13, 2007, Vick provided Wong a power of attorney that permitted Wong “to manage and conduct all of [his] affairs and to exercise all of [his] legal rights and powers, including all rights that [Vick] may acquire in the future.”  Using the power of attorney on at least one or two occasions, Wong exercised authority or control respecting the management or disposition of the Plan’s assets.  She was therefore a fiduciary of the Plan under ERISA § 3(21)(A), 29 U.S.C. § 1002(21)(A), and a party in interest as that term is defined in ERISA Sections 3(14)(A), 29 U.S.C. §§ 1002(14)(A). 
11. David A. Talbot (“Talbot”) was an individual who served as a financial advisor to Defendant Vick.  On or about June 17, 2008, Vick provided Talbot a power of attorney that permitted Talbot “to exercise any powers and any duties vested in [Vick] whether solely or jointly, with any other or others as executor, administrator or trustee or in any other fiduciary capacity, so far as such power or duty is capable of being validly delegated.”  Using the power of attorney, on or about July 7, 2008, Talbot exercised authority or control respecting the management or disposition of the Plan’s assets.  He was therefore a fiduciary of the Plan under ERISA § 3(21)(A), 29 U.S.C. § 1002(21)(A), and a party in interest as that term is defined in ERISA Sections 3(14)(A), 29 U.S.C. §§ 1002(14)(A). 
12. The Plan is joined as a party defendant pursuant to Rule 19(a) of the Federal Rules of  Civil Procedure solely to assure that complete relief can be granted.
General Allegations
	13.	MV7, LLC established the MV7 Defined Benefit Pension Plan on or about January 1, 2003.    
	14.	MV7 maintained the assets of the Plan in a brokerage trust account with Charles Schwab.  
[bookmark: OLE_LINK5][bookmark: OLE_LINK6]	15.	On or about March 7, 2007, Vick withdrew $400,000 from the Plan and deposited the assets into a MDV Family Limited Partnership account.  The MDV Family Limited Partnership consisted of a general partner, Vicktory Corporation, in which Vick was one hundred percent owner, the Michael Vick Revocable Trust, and the Michael D. Vick 2002 Irrevocable Trust.       
	16.	On or about July 27, 2007, Vick withdrew $400,000 from the Plan and deposited the assets into an MV7, LLC account.
	17.	On or about November 30, 2007, Vick, or Wong, at Vick’s direction, withdrew $200,000 from the Plan and deposited the assets into the account of one of Vick’s attorneys for the purpose of paying part of Vick’s criminal restitution in Vick’s criminal case in the District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia, Criminal Case No. 3:07CR274-004.  On January 22, 2009, Vick filed suit against Wong in the Eastern District of Virginia, Civil Action No. 2:09-cv-30, regarding, in part, this withdrawal.                      
	18.	On or about June 6, 2008, Wong withdrew $150,000 from the Plan and deposited the assets into a business account of a partnership in which she participated.  Vick’s lawsuit against Wong addresses, in part, this withdrawal.                 
19. 	On or about July 7, 2008, Talbot withdrew a total of $350,000 from the Plan and transferred approximately $315,000 of those funds to attorneys representing Vick in Vick’s bankruptcy matter.  By no later than August 2008, Vick knew that Plan assets were withdrawn for his personal benefit by Talbot, but he failed to reclaim the assets for the Plan.  	
	20.	By MV7’s failure to perform its duties as Plan Administrator, MV7 enabled Vick and Talbot to commit breaches of fiduciary responsibility.     	
	21.	Vick and MV7 knew of Talbot’s breach of fiduciary responsibility described in paragraph 19 above, but failed to make reasonable efforts under the circumstances to remedy the breach.  
	 22.	On July 7, 2008, Michael D. Vick filed a personal bankruptcy petition under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court, Eastern District of Virginia.  Vick did not list or schedule his debt to the Plan in his bankruptcy filing.          		
Violations
23.	Pursuant to Rule 10(c) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, the Secretary adopts by reference the averments and allegations of paragraphs 1-22, inclusive.
	24. 	By his actions and conduct described in paragraphs 13-17 and 19-22, defendant Vick, as a fiduciary of the Plan:      
a. failed to discharge his duties with respect to the Plan solely in the interest of the participants and beneficiaries and for the exclusive purpose of providing benefits to participants and their beneficiaries and defraying reasonable expenses of administering the Plan, in violation of ERISA Section 404(a)(1)(A),  29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1)(A);  
b.   failed to discharge his duties with respect to the Plan solely in the interest of 
 the participants and beneficiaries and with the care, skill, prudence, and            diligence under the circumstances then prevailing that a prudent person acting in a like capacity and familiar with such matters would use in the conduct of    an enterprise of a like character and with like aims, in violation of ERISA Section 404(a)(1)(B), 29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1)(B);
c.   caused the Plan to engage in transactions which he knew or should have known constituted the direct or indirect transfer of Plan assets to, or use of Plan assets by or for the benefit of a party in interest, in violation of ERISA Section 406(a)(1)(D), 29 U.S.C. § 1106(a)(1)(D);  
d. dealt with assets of the Plan in his own interest or for his own account, in violation of ERISA Section 406(b) (1), 29 U.S.C. § 1106(b) (1);
e. failed to comply with Section 404(a)(1) of ERISA in the administration of his specific duties which gave rise to his status as a fiduciary, and thus enabled Talbot to commit breaches of ERISA.  Therefore, Defendant Vick is liable as a co-fiduciary for the breaches set forth in Paragraph 19 above pursuant to ERISA Section 405(a)(2), 29 U.S.C. § 1105(a)(2); and		
f. knew of Talbot’s breaches of ERISA with regard to the transfer of funds from the Pension Plan set forth in Paragraph 19 above, and failed to make reasonable efforts under the circumstances to remedy Talbot’s breaches,  pursuant to ERISA Section 405(a) (3), 29 U.S.C. § 1105(a) (3).
	25. 	By her actions and conduct described in paragraphs 17-18, defendant Wong, as a fiduciary of the Plan:
a. failed to discharge her duties with respect to the Plan solely in the interest of the participants and beneficiaries and for the exclusive purpose of providing benefits to participants and their beneficiaries and defraying reasonable expenses of administering the Plan, in violation of ERISA Section 404(a)(1)(A),  29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1)(A);  
b.   failed to discharge her duties with respect to the Plan solely in the interest of 
 the participants and beneficiaries and with the care, skill, prudence, and            diligence under the circumstances then prevailing that a prudent person acting in a like capacity and familiar with such matters would use in the conduct of    an enterprise of a like character and with like aims, in violation of ERISA Section 404(a)(1)(B), 29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1)(B);
c.   caused the Plan to engage in transactions which she knew or should have known constituted the direct or indirect transfer of Plan assets to, or use of Plan assets by or for the benefit of a party in interest, in violation of ERISA Section 406(a)(1)(D), 29 U.S.C. § 1106(a)(1)(D); and, 
d. Dealt with assets of the Plan in her own interest or for her own account, in violation of ERISA Section 406(b) (1), 29 U.S.C. § 1106(b) (1).
	26. 	By his actions and conduct described in paragraph 19, defendant Talbot, as a fiduciary of the Plan:
a. failed to discharge his duties with respect to the Plan solely in the interest of the participants and beneficiaries and for the exclusive purpose of providing benefits to participants and their beneficiaries and defraying reasonable expenses of administering the Plan, in violation of ERISA Section 404(a)(1)(A),  29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1)(A);  
b.   failed to discharge his duties with respect to the Plan solely in the interest of 
 the participants and beneficiaries and with the care, skill, prudence, and            diligence under the circumstances then prevailing that a prudent person acting in a like capacity and familiar with such matters would use in the conduct of    an enterprise of a like character and with like aims, in violation of ERISA Section 404(a)(1)(B), 29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1)(B); and
c.   caused the Plan to engage in transactions which he knew or should have known constituted the direct or indirect transfer of Plan assets to, or use of Plan assets by or for the benefit of a party in interest, in violation of ERISA Section 406(a)(1)(D), 29 U.S.C. § 1106(a)(1)(D).	
	27.	MV7, as Plan Administrator, and a fiduciary to the Plan:
                        a.   failed to comply with Section 404(a)(1) of ERISA in the administration of 
	its specific duties which gave rise to its status as a fiduciary, and thus enabled Vick and Talbot to commit breaches of ERISA.  Therefore, Defendant MV7 is liable as a co-fiduciary for the breaches set forth in Paragraphs 13-17 and 19-22 above, pursuant to ERISA Section 405(a)(2), 29 U.S.C. § 1105(a)(2); and	
b. knew of the breaches by Vick and Talbot with regard to the transfer of funds from the Pension Plan set forth in Paragraphs 13-17 and 19-22 above, and failed to make reasonable efforts under the circumstances to remedy the  breaches by Vick and Talbot, pursuant to ERISA Section 405(a) (3), 29 U.S.C. § 1105(a) (3).
Prayer for Relief
28.	WHEREFORE, the Secretary prays that this Court issue an order:
a. Removing Michael D. Vick and MV7 as fiduciaries of the Plan and of any employee benefit plan for which they act as fiduciaries; 
b. Permanently enjoining Michael D. Vick, Mary R. Wong, David A. Talbot, and MV7 from acting directly or indirectly, in any fiduciary capacity, with respect to any employee benefit plan subject to ERISA; 
c. Permanently enjoining Michael D. Vick, Mary R. Wong, David A. Talbot, and MV7 from exercising any custody, control, or decision making authority with respect to the assets of any employee benefit plan covered by ERISA; 
d. Appointing an independent fiduciary with plenary authority and control with respect to the management and administration of the Plan, including the authority to marshal assets on behalf of the Plan, to pursue claims on behalf of the Plan, and to take all appropriate action for the termination of the Plan and the distribution of benefits to the Plan’s participants and beneficiaries;
e. Ordering the defendants, their agents, employees, service providers, banks, accountants, and attorneys to provide the Secretary and the independent fiduciary with all of the books, documents, and records relating to the finances and administration of the Plan, and to make an accounting to the Secretary and to the independent fiduciary of all contributions to the Plan and all transfers, payments, or expenses incurred or paid in connection with the Plan;    
f. Ordering the defendants to restore any losses, including lost opportunity costs, to the Plan caused by their fiduciary misconduct;  
g.    Awarding plaintiff, Secretary of Labor, the costs of this action; and
h.    Awarding such other relief as is equitable and just.
Respectfully submitted,
HILDA L. SOLIS, 
SECRETARY OF LABOR,			
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF LABOR

						Carol A. De Deo
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